OA 7-1.87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID	TAL-MASON,)			
)		<u>-</u>	
	Petitioner,)	CASE NO.	69 , 508	
vs.)			SID J. WHITE
STATE	OF FLORIDA	,) ,			APR 6 1987
	Respondent.)		Ĝ	LERK, SUPREMB COURT
)	Deputy Clust		
				18 − 1 −	وج وحيدة الموج و

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Richard A. Belz, Esquire and Jeffrey M. Leukel, Esquire Attorneys for Petitioner

Florida Institutional Legal Services, Inc. 2614 SW 34th Street Gainesville, Florida 32608 (904) 377-4212

TABLE OF CONTI

Page

i

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, David Tal-Mason, is legally committed to the custody of the Florida Department of Corrections under a sentence of life imprisonment. (R 40)

Mr. Tal-Mason was arrested on June 30, 1977, on charges of first degree murder and two counts of grand larceny. He was subsequently indicted on July 26, 1977 in Case number 77-4084-CF. (R 41). On December 9, 1977, the trial court ordered him committed to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (DHRS) for an evaluation of his competency to stand trial. (R 41). Mr. Tal-Mason was transferred to the forensic unit of the South Florida State Hospital and in January of 1978, was found to be mentally incompetent to stand trial. (R 41). Between 1979 and 1981, he returned to court on three separate occasions where his continued incompetence was affirmed. (R 41).

In April of 1982, he was transferred to the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center in Gainesville. (R 41).

After having spent a total of 5 years, 27 days in the custody of DHRS, Mr. Tal-Mason was found competent to stand trial on March 29, 1983. (R 42). On August 8, 1983, he pled guilty to the charge of second degree murder and was given a life sentence by the trial court. (R 42).

On January 22, 1985, Mr. Tal-Mason filed a post-conviction motion in the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. (R 21-36). In it, he requested credit for all time spent in custody before trial. Specifically, he alleged he had spent 1 year and 13 days in county jail

-1-

awaiting trial but received credit for only one year. He additionally requested the 5 years and 27 days spent in State mental institutions which is the centerpiece of the relief sought herein. (R 21-36).

The Circuit Court granted the motion, insofar as the 13 days went, but denied credit for time spent in the two State mental hospitals. (R 38-39).

Mr. Tal-Mason then filed a Motion for Rehearing seeking credit for the 5 years and 27 days spent in State mental institutions. Oral argument on this motion were presented on July 10, 1985. (R 40).

A final judgment was then entered by the Circuit Court in the form of an Order on Rehearing granting the relief requested by Mr. Tal-Mason. (R 40-45). This relief consisted of crediting the additional 5 years and 27 days he had spent in State mental institutions as a pre-trial detainee towards his sentence. The reasoning was that Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes, violated his rights to equal protection and due process under the fourteenth amendment to the Federal Constitution and Article I, §2 and §9 of the Florida Constitution. State v. Tal-Mason, 11 Fla. Supp. 2d 173 (Fla. 17th Cir. Ct. 1985).

The State appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. On August 20, 1986, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the ruling of the Circuit Court relying on this Honorable Court's decision in <u>Pennington v. State</u>, 398 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1981).

A Motion for Rehearing was timely filed by Mr. Tal-Mason, which was denied on September 18, 1986. <u>State v. Tal-Mason</u>, 492 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Notice of Intent to Invoke Discretionary Review was filed with the

-2-

Fourth District Court of Appeal on October 17, 1986, pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) and (ii).

Review of the District Court's decision specifically upholding the validity of Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes, over Mr. Tal-Mason's constitutional challenges was granted by this Honorable Court in an Order dated March 11, 1987.

.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

The interplay of the Mentally Disordered Sex Offender (MDSO) statute [Section 917.218, Florida Statutes (1977), now Section 917.014, Florida Statutes], with this Court's interpretation of Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes, creates two classes of pretrial criminal defendants who are treated differently for equal protection purposes.

In the first group are those pretrial detainees who were committed to State mental hospitals, prior to imposition of sentence, under the MDSO program. The second group consists of those committed to those same State hospitals, also prior to sentencing, for some other type of mental deficiency. The former group received credit for their presentencing confinement per the mandate of the MDSO statute. Section 917.218, Florida Statutes (1977).

Having no such statute directly applicable to their presentence incarceration, the latter group of mentally deficient detainees is denied jail time credits resulting in a disparity of treatment of similarly situated individuals.

In specifically upholding the constitutionality of Section 921.161, Florida Statutes, the Fourth District Court of Appeal relied <u>exclusively</u> on this Court's decision in <u>Pennington v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. The basis for this reliance appears grounded on <u>Pennington's reasoning which seems to apply to all treatment</u> programs regardless of the purpose or degree of confinement.

However, because the MDSO statute precludes the uniform application of <u>Pennington</u> by requiring the crediting of presentence confinement to MDSO

-4-

offenders, Mr. Tal-Mason asserts this reasoning, based on <u>purpose</u> rather than effect, is a violation of his right to the equal protection of the law.

Moreover, any decision by this Honorable Court as to the claims asserted by Mr. Tal-Mason should take into account the growing trend throughout other jurisdictions awarding jail-time credits in this context for exactly the same constitutional considerations herein.

Π

Additionally, it is Mr. Tal-Mason's contention that current practices under Section 921.161, Florida Statutes, are fundamentally unfair and thus violate his rights to due process of law.

The record is crystal clear that, unlike pretrial detainees such as Mr. Tal-Mason, jail time credits are uniformly awarded those defendants for time spent in the criminal wards of State hospitals for physical illnesses.

Given this factual scenario, Mr. Tal-Mason asserts there is no compelling State interest which justifies this disparate treatment. Conceeding that the State <u>does</u> have a legitimate interest in assuring a defendant's competency to stand trial, even this objective falls short of justifying a process that needlessly chills a pre-trial detainee's exercise of his constitutional right to due process.

To state the argument simply: As a matter of constitutional law, jail time credit should be awarded a defendant for all incarcerative time served in connection with a criminal charge for which he is eventually sentenced.

-5-

ARGUMENT

I.

The Interplay Of Section 917.218, Florida Statutes, (1977), With This Honorable Court's Interpretation Of Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes, In <u>Pennington v.</u> <u>State</u>, 398 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1981), Violates Petitioner's Rights To Equal Protection Of The Law.

Florida law requires a sentencing court to give credit for time spent in county jail prior to trial. Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes. If this statute is interpreted to deny credit against a sentence for pre-trial time spent in a State mental hospital pursuant to a criminal charge, then the issue becomes whether a defendant who is mentally incompetent to stand trial can constitutionally be forced to spend more time in confinement than a defendant who is competent to stand trial. To single these people out as a class from the larger mass of pre-trial detainees is a denial of equal protection of the law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 2 to the Florida Constitution.

In upholding the validity of the jail time statute, the appellate court below relied <u>exclusively</u> on this Honorable Court's decision in <u>Pennington</u>. There, this Court reasoned that persons in jails were not similarly situated with those confined in state hospitals or treatment centers and were thus subject to disparate treatment without resort to equal protection analysis. In the words of this Honorable Court:

> Halfway houses, rehabilitative centers, and state hospitals are not jails. Their purpose is structured rehabilitation and treatment, not incarceration.

Pennington, supra, 398 So.2d at 817.

Based on the above reasoning, this Court refused to extend a broad reading of the statute to include types of pretrial confinement <u>other</u> than county jail. <u>Id</u>. This reasoning is grounded in the <u>purpose</u> of the pretrial confinement. However, the constitutional reality of Mr. Tal-Mason's treatment in comparison to other pre-trial detainees also confined for treatment purposes is persuasive argument that the <u>effect</u> of the confinement rather than the purpose should be the determinitive factor of whether or not to grant credit.

Examples of this disparate treatment are as follows:

1. If a defendant's illness is physical rather than mental, he will automatically be credited with the time spent in the criminal wards of a hospital prior to trial. (R 42).

2. If a defendant's mental illness was manifest as a Mentally Disordered Sex Offender (MDSO), then the defendant received credit. Section 917.218, Florida Statutes (1977). If the mental illness was (or is) of a different type, then the defendant will not receive credit. The type of mental illness is out of the control of the defendant. To deny him the same benefits because of the type of mental deficiency is an unconstitutional disparity in treatment between the types of mental illness which are awarded pre-trial credit.

3. If a defendant becomes mentally unstable after being sentenced rather than before trial, he will receive credit for time spent in recovering in the State mental hospital. Section 917.014, Florida Statutes. The time of appearance of mental illness is an event out of control of a defendant. To deny him the same benefits because of the <u>timing</u> of his mental illness is reading into the law an unreasonable and unintended distinction. Additionally, it would seem illogical

-7-

that a different result should follow from the mere circumstance that a defendant was removed to the mental hospital while being held in jail instead of the Department of Corrections, especially in light of the fact that the Florida Legislature has indicated that jails are to be treated in the same way as penal institutions insofar as credit is concerned. Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes.

The most telling distinction by far, however, relates to the interplay of the MDSO statute with this Court's reasoning under <u>Pennington</u>. The significance of this interplay was highlighted in the concurring opinion in the appellate court below when Judge Anstead remarked that "<u>Pennington</u> failed to address ... [Mr. Tal-Mason's] constitutional claims". <u>State v. Tal-Mason</u>, 492 So.2d at 1183.

The concurring opinion below notes:

it appears that the supreme court's holding in <u>Pennington</u> was intended to apply to all treatment programs, regardless of the degree of confinement.

-8-

<u>State v. Tal-Mason</u>, 492 So.2d at 1181-82. Thus, it is appropriate to evaluate the above distinctions under equal protection analysis to determine if the broad reasoning of <u>Pennington</u> overcomes the constitutional challenges herein.

The first step in equal protection analysis is to identify the classes of persons who are similarly situated. To do this, the court looks to the purpose of the law. If the two classes are similarly situated, then disparate treatment is constitutionally valid only if it is rationally related to furthering a legitimate state interest. <u>Clements v. Fashing</u>, 457 U.S. 957, 963, 102 S.Ct. 2836, 2843 (1982), <u>reh'g denied</u>, 458 U.S. 1133, 103 S.Ct. 20 (1982). In the instant case, a defendant's statutory right to credit for all pre-trial detention under Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes, constitutes a protected liberty interest, and as such should be analyzed under the intermediate standard which is triggered by an important, but not fundamental, right. <u>Wolff v. McDonnell</u>, 418 U.S. 539, 556-57, 94 S.Ct. 2963, 2974-75 (1974). This standard requires the State to show that the discretionary classification is substantially related to achievement of an important governmental concern.

In amending Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes (effective May 28, 1973), the Legislature intended that credit be mandatory. The Senate Committee on Criminal Justice Staff Memorandum on House Bill 693 (May 1973), noted various problems which had occurred under Section 921.161 and said:

Staff is of the opinion that this bill would do much to further justice in our criminal justice system. Because of the backlog in our courts, many defendants spend months awaiting trial and then additional time awaiting sentence after conviction.

To sentence an offender and not give credit for any prior time spent awaiting trial and/or sentencing

-9-

seems to be double punitive. Though present statue allows credit to be given, staff is of the opinion that credit should mandatorily be given.

(Appendix, p. i-ii).

The written record is silent on the question of crediting time spent in treatment programs and mental hospitals. It is clear, however, that the statute is remedial in nature. The Committee Memorandum speaks to all types of confinement attributable to underlying criminal transactions, and not just the label of "county jail".

A mentally ill defendant technically continues to be in jail while in custody at the hospital. Once adjudicated incompetent to stand trial, he is committed to the forensic unit of the State mental hospital (maximum security conditions) and cannot be released without further written order of the court. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.212 and 3.213; Section 916.13, Florida Statutes. This procedure requires a criminal proceeding, suspension of the criminal proceeding until a legal issue (mental capacity) is resolved, and confinement until the defendant stands trial.

The defendant is at all times under the jurisdiction and authority of the court: he has no control over his place of custody; he has his liberties restrained during confinement; he is never free to leave the hospital; and, in the event he escapes and is recaptured, he is returned to the hospital or county jail subject to prosecution for a second degree felony. Section 917.018, Florida Statutes. A hospital which has the facilities to enforce confinement of their patients does so within the common and every day definition of "jail".

-10-

At the federal level the Supreme Court of the United States has recognized that a mental health treatment center imposes limitations on freedom, but that:

Such consequences visited on the prisoner [within a mental institution] are qualitatively different from the punishment characteristically suffered by a person convicted of a crime.

Vitek v. Jones, 445 U.S. 480, 493, 100 S.Ct. 1254, 1264 (1980).

Mr. Justice Brennan's dissent in <u>Jones v. United States</u>, 463 U.S. 354, 384-85, 103 S.Ct. 3043, 3060-61 (1983), joined in by Mr. Justice Marshall and Mr. Justice Blackmun recognizes:

In many respects, confinement in a mental institution is even more intrusive than incarceration in a prison. Inmates of mental institutions, like prisoners, are deprived of unrestricted association with friends, family, and community; they must contend with locks, guards, and detailed regulation of their daily activities. In addition, a person who has been hospitalized involuntarily may to a significant extent lose the right enjoyed by others to withhold consent to medical treatment . . . The treatments to which he may be subjected include physical restraints such as straightjacketing, as well as electroshock therapy, aversive conditioning, and even in some cases pyscho-surgery. Administration of psychotropic medication to control behavior is common . . . Although this Court has never approved the practice, it is possible that an inmate will be given medication for reasons that have more to do with the needs of the institution than with individualized therapy.

This Honorable Court must give the statute in question, Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes, an interpretation based on the legislative intent with which it was passed. "County jail" must be given its commonly understood meaning as a <u>place of confinement pursuant to a criminal charge</u>, and not just

the local bastile. Such an interpretation is consistent with Fla. Admin. Code Rule 23-21.011, which provides the method for calculating the time spent in pre-trial detention for parole purposes. The administrative definition of time spent "in actual physical custody" focuses on deprivation of liberty, not on any legal status.

Pre-trial detainees, in State mental hospitals, and in the county jails, constitute classes of persons who are similarly situated for the purpose of equal protection analysis. In the decision of the circuit court below, Judge Spieser noted:

> It is a denial of the equal protection of the law to grant such sentence credit on the basis of the type of mental illness or deficiency, or to discriminate between physical and mental illness, when such illness or deficiency is out of the control of a defendant. There is no legal difference, or shouldn't be, between a broken leg and a "broken head" when it comes to time credited toward sentence. Art. I, Section 2, Florida Constitution; United States Constitution Amendment XIV. This is the exact position adopted by the Supreme Court of Washington in an en banc decision, which this court finds is persuasive authority in the issue. [citing to <u>Matter of</u> Knapp, 687 P.2d 1145, 102 Wash.2d 466 (1984)].

State v. Tal-Mason, 11 Fla. Supp. 2d 173, 176 (Fla. 17th Cir. Ct. 1985).

It is clear that the two classes have been subject to disparate treatment since pre-sentence detainees in county jails and hospitals for physical illnesses receive credit while pre-sentence detainees in mental hospitals do not. The State must, therefore, proffer a substantial governmental concern or, alternatively, a rational reason, relating to a legitimate state interest for denying credit to pre-sentence inmates in mental hospitals. From the

-12-

perspective of the prisoner, the distinction between pre-trial preventative detention for treatment, post-sentencing preventative detention for treatment, and post-sentencing detention for punishment is meaningless; in all three situations he faces the same loss of freedom. <u>Stafford</u>, <u>supra</u>, 380 So.2d at 539.

The Supreme Court of the United States has made it clear that one may not be deprived of the protections guaranteed to those incarcerated in a traditional penal institution simply because confinement is for purposes of "treatment" rather than punishment. <u>McNeil v. Director, Patuxent Institution,</u> 407 U.S. 245, 92 S.Ct. 2083 (1972); <u>Jackson v. Indiana</u>, 406 U.S. 715, 92 S.Ct. 1845 (1972); <u>Application of Gault</u>, 387 U.S. 1, 87 S.Ct. 1428 (1967). Until <u>Gault</u>, juveniles accused of delinquency were deprived of significant procedural and substantive rights because courts chose to label the proceedings leading to their confinement as "clinical" rather than "punitive". The Court noted:

> It is of no constitutional consequence - and of limited practical meaning - that the institution to which he is committed is called an Industrial School. The fact of the matter is that, however euphemistic the title, ... the child is incarcerated for a greater or lesser time.

Id. at 27, 87 S.Ct. at 1443.

The State's interest in pre-trial custody of a defendant who is mentally incompetent to stand trial is to insure that he has the ability to consult with his attorney and has an understanding of the proceedings against him. Section 916.12, Florida Statutes. A second consideration is that without care and treatment, he poses a threat of harm to himself or others. Section 916.13, Florida Statutes. <u>Neither</u> interest has a rational nexus with the denial of credit

-13-

for time spent in pre-trial confinement in a mental hospital. The "distinction" between a mental hospital and county jail is artificial since the effect on the individual, a substantial loss of liberty, is the same. The constitutional right of equal protection of the law must not be defeated by such a hollow legal fiction.

As a matter of statutory construction, the only real issue is whether a suspect adjudicated incompetent will receive the same presumption of innocence that the above illustrated pre-trial detainees enjoy. It was the fulfillment of these constitutional considerations which led Florida's legislature to amend Section 921.161(1), Florida Statutes, so that the credit of pre-trial incarceration would be mandatory rather than discretionary. While conceeding that application of this statute is restricted to "only Florida jails", <u>Kronz v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1985), to pass constitutional muster, the term "county jail" must be applied to include all State operated institutions where pretrial detainees are incarcerated pursuant to alleged criminal transactions.

As a matter of persuasive authority, Mr. Tal-Mason would direct this Honorable Court's attention to the growing trend in other jurisdictions which support awarding credit under similar scenarios for <u>exactly</u> the same constitutional considerations.

The Supreme Court of Washington has taken the position that mandatory sentencing credits shall be applied for hospital confinement as well as jail. Denial of such credits based on mental illnesses or deficiencies outside the control of the defendant represents a denial of equal protection when State statutes are in place for granting such credits. <u>Matter of Knapp</u>, 102 Wash. 2d 466, 687 P.2d 1145 (1984) (en banc). It should be noted that the circuit court

-14-

below found <u>Knapp</u> to be sufficient persuasive authority to warrant granting relief. State v. Tal-Mason, 11 Fla. Supp. 2d 173, 176 (Fla. 17th Cir. Ct. 1985).

Even without the statute, Washington has extended the rights to such credits based on purely constitutional considerations <u>Reanier v. Smith</u>, 83 Wash. 2d 342, 517 P.2d 949 (1974); <u>In re Phelan</u>, 97 Wash. 2d 590, 647 P.2d 1026 (1982) (time served as condition of probation); <u>State v. Phelan</u>, 100 Wash. 2d 508, 671 P.2d 1212 (1983) (en banc) (discretionary as well as mandatory prison terms).

Where such a credit statute is in place, other jurisdictions have similarly attached broad interpretations. <u>See</u>, <u>State v. LaBadie</u>, 87 N.M. 391, 534 P.2d 483 (N.M. App. 1975); <u>People v. Gravlin</u>, 52 Mich. App. 467, 217 N.W. 2d 404 (1974); Hart v. State, 588 S.W. 2d 226 (Mo. App. 1979).

In <u>People v. Cowsar</u>, 40 Cal. App. 3d 578, 115 Cal. Rptr. 160 (1974), it was held that the credit statute must be broadly interpreted in order "to avoid an unconstitutional disparity in treatment between those confined in jail and in a state hospital prior to trial". <u>Id</u>. at 581, 115 Cal. Rptr. at 161. This would seem correct since confinement, penal or not, represents being in State "custody". See, also, <u>Lock v. State</u>, 609 P.2d 539 (Alaska 1980). Such reasoning focuses on the extent that a defendant is deprived of his freedom of movement.

As noted by Judge Anstead in his concurring opinion below:

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