DA 1.1-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 69,508

APR 24 1987

DAVID TAL-MASON

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGIM JIMENEZ-OROSA Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitoner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. The Respondent was the Appellant and the prosecution, respectively, in the lower courts. In this Brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

Reference to the record will be made by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Petitioner's statement of the case and facts, as they appear on pages one through three of his Brief, to the extent that it is an accurate, non-argumentative recitation of proceedings in the courts below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The prosecution against Petitioner was suspended during the time he was committed to the State hospital for evaluation of his competency to stand trial under §916.13, Florida Statutes. Thus Petitioner was not incarcerated on pending criminal charges as required by §921.161, Florida Statutes, and therefore not entitled to credit for the five years and twenty-seven days spent in the State mental hospital against the life sentence imposed on him for the second degree murder conviction he plead guilty to.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 921.161(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, IS CONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO PETITIONER AND DOES NOT DENY HIM EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW.

The question presented to this Court in the instant petition is whether the time spent in a state mental hospital by one declared to be incompetent to stand trial should be credited to him against his sentence under §921.161(1), Florida Statute, as time spent in county jail. The State sbmits the answer is "NO".

The Fourth District Court of Appeal upheld the constitutionality of §921.161(1), Fla.Stat., and reversed the trial court's judgment relying in this Court's decision in Pennington v. State, 398 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1981). This Court in Pennington, at 817, clearly stated:

Halfway houses, rehabilitative centers and state hospitals are not jails. Their purpose is structured rehabilitation and treatment not incarceration.

The <u>Pennington</u> Court then declined to extend the statute's plain language to require that credit be given as time served in circumstances other than "county jail."

Petitioner now argues that the effect of the confinement

The opinion under review sub judice is cited as State v. Tal-Mason, 492 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

rather than the <u>purpose</u> should be the determinitive factor of whether to grant credit. This contention is necessary to support Petitioner's claim of denial of equal protection of the law when his position is compared to persons given credit for time spent in a State mental hospital under the Mentally Disordered Sex Offenders Act (MDSO), Chapter 917, <u>Florida Statutes</u>.

Petitioner argues that since pursuant to §917.014 mentally disordered sex offenders receive credit for time spent in a state mental hospital against any sentence imposed, that denial of credit in the instant case is denial of equal protection when contrasted with mentally disordered sex offenders, who are similarly situated for purpose of equal protection analysis. A review of Chapter 917 demonstrates a person committed to a State mental hospital under §917.012 has been convicted and 'sentenced for a violation of law involving a sex offense" and placed in the custody of the Department of Correction.

In the case of a person, such as Petitioner, who is committed under §916.13, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, because he has been found to be incompetent to stand trial, the prosecution against him is suspended during the time he is committed, <u>Dalton v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 457, 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), and the charges will be dismissed if the defendant remains incompetent to stand trial, §916.145. Thus, there was no incarceration related to his guilt for which Petitioner need be given credit under §921.161.

As recognized by this Court in <u>Pennington</u>, <u>supra</u> at 816, there is no constitutional infirmity in reasonable classifications and in the treatment of different classifications differently. The state hospital was established for the confinement, treatment, and rehabilitation of the mentally ill. Petitioner had been charged with a capital crime and for his own protection was hospitalized so that a trial, if it occurred at all, would take place only when he was mentally competent to participate and protect his interests. He was not confined, for purposes of punishment, and it cannot be said that his stay at the hospital was a part of his punishment for the commission of a crime. <u>Makal v. Arizona</u>, 544 F.2d 1030 (9th Cir. 1976), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 430 U.S. 936, 97 S.Ct. 1563, 51 L.Ed.2d 782 (1977).

Petitioner alleges that the restrictions placed on his liberty at the mental hospital are evidence he was incarcerated because, as if he were in jail, he is not free to leave the hospital. This argument was rejected by the United States Supreme Court last year in Allen v. Illinois, 478 U.S.____, 106 S.Ct.____, 92 L.Ed.2d 296 (1986). In Allen, the Supreme Court was reviewing the validity of the Illinois Sexually Dangerous Persons Act, and found that under the Act, "the State has a statutory obligation to provide 'care and treatment for [persons adjudged sexually dangerous] designed to effect recovery,' ¶ 105-8, in a facility set aside to provide psychiatric care, ibid. And '[i]f the patient is found to be no longer dangerous, the court shall order that he be discharged.' " Id.

92 L.Ed.2d at 304. The Supreme Court went on to hold that the Act's purpose was that of treatment, not punishment, even though the mental hospital housed other prisoners who are also in need of psychiatric treatment, and notwithstanding the fact that the hospital is a maximum security facility. The Court found there was no evidence that "sexually dangerous persons" in Illinois were confined under conditions incompatible with the asserted interest of treatment. Thus, the conditions of the petitioner's confinement themselves did not amount to punishment. L.Ed.2d at 307. And in any event, the fact that the restrictions placed on Petitioner at the state hospital are comparable to restrictions on accused held in jail, is of no consequence, since the restraints placed on the insane are necessary, not as punishment, but in order to protect the committed person against himself as well as for the protection of the general public against his dangerousness. In the present case it is important to keep in mind that Petitioner was indicted for first degree muder, the most violent of crimes.

The State submits that the purpose for commitment of Petitioner under §916.13(1) was that of treatment, not punishment. As stated by the U.S. Supreme Court in Allen, supra, this is a valid state interet which supports different treatment of individuals adjudicated incompetent to stand trial from other prisoners. To accept Petitioners contentions would be to declare civilly committed individuals under §394.467, Florida Statutes, and involuntarily committed defendants adjudicated not guilty by

reason of insanity under §916.15, Florida Statutes, to have also been incarcerated and placed in jail for purpose of punishment and restraint of liberty, rather than treatment which is clearly the purpose of §\$394.467 and 916.15. When the issue is viewed in these terms, it is obvious that the purpose of the committment is what is important, not the effect, because none of these three groups of people (involuntarily committed mentally ill patients, involuntarily committed persons adjudicated not guilty by reason of insanity, and involuntarily committed persons adjudicated incompetent to stand trial) are "incarcerated" pursuant to any criminal transaction. They are in fact committed for treatment of their mental illness.

Chapter 916, <u>Florida Statutes</u> provides for the procedures to be followed in determining competency and/or commitment of mentally deficient and metally ill defendants. The purpose of this Chapter is not to punish people like Appellee who raise a claim of insanity, but to prevent an insane person from being tried or imprisoned for a crime when insanity lies behind what otherwise would be criminality. It is precisely this purpose and protection of this type of defendants that sets Petitioner apart from all other criminal defendants kept in jail awaiting trial.

In an annotation dealing with the validity, construction and application of the federal statutes (very similar to Ch. 917 of the Florida Statutes) providing for pretrial determination of mental competency of persons accused of

federal crimes, it is stated that the purpose of this type of statute is to avoid the prosecution of an insane person, since other means than prosecution are provided by law for protecting the interest of the public and of the individual. See: Anno.:

Mental Competency of Accused, 100 L.Ed. 420.

The United States Supreme Court in Greenwood v. United States, 350 U.S. 366, 76 S.Ct. 410, 100 L.Ed. 412 (1956) upheld and approved the commitment of Mr. Greenwood in order to evaluate his competency to stand trial stating:

This commitment, and therefore the legislation authorizing commitment in the context of this case, involve an assertion of authority, duly guarded auxiliary to incontestable national power. As such it is plainly within congressional power under the Necessary and Proper Clause. Art 1, §8, cl. 18. Id. 350 U.S. at 375, 76 S.Ct. 410, 100 L.Ed. at 419.

The prosecution against Petitioner was suspended during the time he was committed. <u>Dalton v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 457, 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). Petitioner was not being held in the state hospitals for punishment, but rather in order to treat his mental deficiency.

The record <u>sub judice</u> clearly show Petitioner was afforded notice and hearing before commitment as provided by Chapter 916 <u>Florida Statutes</u>, to comply with due process and fair treatment requirements. The cases cited by Petitioner are inapplicable to the circumstances of the case at bar since they deal with denial of due process to the defendants therein.

In Jones v. U.S., 463 U.S. 354, 103 S.Ct. 3043, 77

L.Ed.2d 694 (1983), the defendant was acquitted by reason of insanity. The Supreme Court held a verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity is sufficiently probative of mental illness and dangerousness to justify commitment of the acquitee for the purpose of treatment and the protection of society. The Supreme Court went on to find that because an insanity acquittee was not convicted, he may not be punished. That the purpose of his commitment is to treat the mental illness and protect him and society from his potential dangerousness. Appellee also cited Vitek v. Jones, 445 U.S. 480, 100 S.Ct. 1254, 63 L.Ed.2d 552 (1979); McNeil v. Director, Patuxent Institution, 407 U.S. 245, 92 S.Ct. 2083, 32 L.Ed.2d 719 (1972); and In Re Gault, 387 U.S. 1, 87 S.Ct. 1428, 18 L.Ed.2d 527 (1966). These three cases dealt with convicted felons, and the Supreme Court affirmed lower court's declaration of the respective statutes unconstitutional as applied to the respective defendant, because the defendants were being held in mental hospitals without adequate notice and opportunity for a hearing. This is not the argument raised by Petitioner in the instant case. Petitioner's due process rights were thoroughly observed (R 21-22) See Jackson v. Indiana, 406 U.S. 715, 738, 92 S.Ct. 1845, 32 L.Ed.2d 435 (1972).

Section 921.161(1) Fla. Stat. (1983) provides:

A sentence of imprisonment shall not begin to run before the date it is imposed, but the court imposing a sentence shall allow a defendant credit for all of the time he spent in the county jail before sentence. The credit must be for a specified period of time and shall be provided for in the sentence.

Respondent submits that the Legislature by the specific and clear language used in the statute intended to allow the trial court to allow a defendant credit for time spent in county jail only and not for any time spent in a state hospital prior to trial. In Kronz v. State, 462 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1985), this Court in interpreting \$921.161 denied the defendant time spent in jail in another state because the term "county jail," in \$921.161(1) is applicable only to Florida jails, and was not intended by the legislature to apply to various places of incarceration in other jurisdictions. Id. at 451.

In the instant case, Petitioner was adjudicated incompetent to stand trial and committed to the State hospital for treatment pursuant to §916.13(1), Fla. Stat. Since the prosecution against Petitioner was suspended during the time he was committed, Dalton v. State, supra at 458, and Petitioner was not incarcerated while in the hospital, thus he is not entitled to credit for time served in "county jail" under §921.161(1).

In his Brief, Petitioner sets out as a second issue: the disparate treatment of those committed to a mental hospital versus those treated for a physical illness in a state hospital as a violation of his due process rights. The State submits that the above reasons, make this second claim unconscionable as well. When a person suffers an injury or contracts an illness while in jail pending trial, he must be taken to the hospital for treatment. However, the charges against him are not suspended, nor are they affected in any way. Those persons, when taken to

the hospital, remain incarcerated on the criminal charges. This is not true in the cases of persons such as Petitioner.

Therefore, it cannot be said that similarly situated persons are being given disperate treatment in violation of due process of law.

CONCLUSION

The issue presented for review herein is whether commitment in a state hospital for purpose of evaluating competency to stand trial is equivalent to time spent incarcerated in "county jail" as contemplated by §921.161 Fla. Stat. Since the prosecution against Petitioner was suspended during his hospital stay, Petitioner was not incarcerated for purposes of §921.161. The trial court, therefore, erred in finding §921.161 to be unconstitutional and granting him credit for the five years and twenty-seven days spent in the State mental hospital. Respondent respectfully urges this Honorable Court to approve the Fourth District's opinion reversing the trial court and upholding the constitutionality of §921.161, Florida Statutes, as applied to Petitioner.